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I.


Statement of the Case

On March 22, 1996, Houston Independent School District proposed to terminate the employment of Ardeen L. Harris, a teacher operating under a continuing contract.  The termination proposal was initiated pursuant to Section 21.158(a) of the Texas Education Code and Section 7 of the continuing teacher's contract.  The reasons cited for discharge were Section 5(f) (repeated and continuing neglect of duties) and Section 6(g) (for good cause as determined by the Employer, good cause being the failure of the teacher to meet the accepted standards of conduct for the profession as generally recognized and applied in similarly situated school districts throughout the State of Texas).  On April 5, 1996, the undersigned was selected by the Commissioner of Education to act as the Certified Independent Hearing Examiner.  By agreement of the parties, the hearing in this matter was held on April 25, and 30, 1996.  Ardeen L. Harris was represented at the hearing by Ms. Bonnie Fitch, Attorney at Law.  Houston Independent School District was represented by Mr. Yuri A. Calderon, Assistant School Attorney.  The decision in this matter is to be rendered on or before May 19, 1996.


II.


Findings of Fact

Based upon the evidence presented at the hearing in this matter and matters officially noticed, this Hearing Examiner makes the following findings of fact:


1.
Dr. Ardeen Harris has been employed as a teacher for Houston Independent School District under a continuing contract since August 25, 1982.  [Admin. Exh. #1].


2.
For the 1994-95 and 1995-96 school years, Dr. Harris was assigned as a teacher within the Community Services Program operated by Houston Independent School District.  The Community Services Program provides instructional services to students, who because of medical reasons, are confined to hospitals, at home or other special sites.  Dr. Harris was assigned to IntraCare Hospital to provide instructional services to students admitted to the hospital for non-educational reasons.  IntraCare Hospital is a general psychiatric and chemical dependency facility.  [Admin Exh. #2].


3.
On September 20, 1995, the Coordinator of Youth Services and the Director of Social Services for IntraCare Hospital contacted Frances Jackson, the Principal for Community Services, to express concern about Dr. Harris' attendance, conduct and behavior.  They alleged that Dr. Harris had been absent many times the previous year and on many occasions had not called IntraCare staff or Houston Independent School District staff to notify them of her absences or to secure a substitute.  They further alleged that Dr. Harris had been absent numerous times this current school year and again, on many occasions, failed to notify IntraCare or Houston Independent School District staff of her absences and failed to secure a substitute.  They also alleged that Dr. Harris' behavior had been somewhat erratic, that she had a lower tolerance of the children's behavior, that there had been an increased need for hospital staff to assist with the children and that Dr. Harris had shown tense and fidgety behavior in the classroom.  They also alleged that IntraCare staff had reported smelling what may have been alcohol on Dr. Harris' breath on Monday and Tuesday of that week.  [Admin. Exh. #3].


4.
On September 29, 1995, Frances Jackson and Dr. Jon Rhodes, the Director of IntraCare Hospital, met with Dr. Harris to discuss the concerns raised by staff at IntraCare.  Dr. Harris responded to these concerns by indicating that her 38.37 absences during the previous year were primarily due to the illness of her mother and that her 17 absences during the current school year were due to her own personal illness that resulted from her smelling tar fume during the repair of the roof on her townhome.  Dr. Harris denied any erratic behavior and indicated that she did not drink alcohol.  [Admin. Exh. #4].


5.
During this meeting, Ms. Jackson smelled an unusual, somewhat peculiar, sweet-like odor emanating from Dr. Harris.  Ms. Jackson also noted that Dr. Harris' physical appearance seemed to have changed since the previous school year and that she appeared emaciated.  [Admin. Exh. #4].


6.
Based on this meeting, Ms. Jackson referred Dr. Harris to the Health Services Department for an evaluation.  [Admin. Exh. #4].


7.
Dr. Harris was subsequently evaluated by a medical doctor who concluded that she has no psychiatric diagnosis and that she appeared to be mentally and emotionally healthy and competent to perform her assigned duties as a classroom teacher.  [Admin.  Exh. #7].


8.
On January 5, 1996, Ms. Jackson wrote to Dr. Harris to express concern that Dr. Harris had been unofficially absent from duty from January 2-5, 1996, and had not contacted Houston Independent School District staff or IntraCare to report her absences.  This letter requested that Dr. Harris provide in writing the reason for being absent from January 2-5, 1996, and why she failed to follow established procedures.  [Admin. Exh. #8].


9.
The established procedures Dr. Harris was to have followed for an absence was to have called the Community Services Program Office prior to 8:00 a.m., to call the substitute office and to call IntraCare Hospital.  [T. 24-25].


10.
Dr. Harris responded to Ms. Jackson's letter in writing on January 11, 1996.  In this letter, Dr. Harris indicated that she had been absent due to personal illness and that she had contacted IntraCare Hospital on January 2 and 4, 1996, and the Community Services Department on January 2, 1996, to report her absences.  [Admin. Exh. #8].  Ms. Jackson later confirmed that Dr. Harris had reported her absences to the Community Services Department but had not attempted to obtain a substitute teacher as required by the established policy.


11.
On January 9, 1996, Ms. Jackson received a letter from the Director of Social Services at IntraCare Hospital requesting that another elementary teacher be provided to replace Dr. Harris.  [Admin. Exh. #9].


12.
On or about January 16, 1996, Dr. Harris reported to Ms. Jackson's office and was informed that before she could return to work she needed to submit a doctor's release for absences from January 16, 1996, through January 17, 1996.  [Admin. Exh. #10].


13.
During this meeting on January 16, 1996, Ms. Jackson noticed that Dr. Harris seemed fidgety, moved in a jerky type manner and looked very emaciated.  Ms. Jackson also noticed a peculiar, sweet-like odor emanating from Dr. Harris' body.


14.
On January 17, 1996, Dr. Harris brought Ms. Jackson an excuse slip from her dentist indicating that she had been under a dentist's care from January 1, 1996, through January 11, 1996.  She informed Ms. Jackson that she had suffered from a tooth infection that had gone into her ear.  [Admin. Exh. #10; T. 56].


15
During this meeting, Ms. Jackson again noticed that a peculiar fragrance seemed to be emanating from Dr. Harris' body.  Due to these observations, Ms. Jackson suspected that Dr. Harris had a drug and/or alcohol problem.  Consequently, Ms. Jackson contacted the Employee Assistant Program and they agreed to send licensed substance abuse personnel from their office to assess Dr. Harris.  [Admin. Exh. #11].


16
The odor that Ms. Jackson smelled on Dr. Harris' body did not smell like alcohol.  [T. 111].


17
Personnel from the Employee Assistant Program (licensed substance abuse counselors) interviewed Dr. Harris and determined that she should be referred for drug testing.  They based their "reasonable suspicion" determination on their observations that Dr. Harris had red eyes, had an unusual odor and displayed erratic behaviors coupled with Dr. Harris' excessive absenteeism.  [T. 284].


18.
On January 17, 1996, Dr. Harris was given an alcohol and drug test.  Dr. Harris was unable to supply sufficient air for the alcohol breathilyzer test or sufficient urine for the drug test despite repeated attempts.  Consequently, these tests were reported as positive due to Dr. Harris' failure to supply sufficient air and urine.  [Admin. Exh. #12].


19.
By letter dated January 22, 1996, Dr. Harris was notified that her tests were deemed positive and she was subject to discipline action up to and including termination.  She was also informed that before a final determination would be made she was to provide the testing facility with a statement from a licensed physician giving valid medical reasons for her inability to provide an adequate amount of breath and urine.  [Admin. Exh. #12].


20.
On January 27, 1996, Dr. Harris obtained a statement from Thomas Nichols, M.D., a Dermatologist, indicating that he was treating her for infected lesions on her face and for hyperpigmentation.  Dr. Nichols also indicated that Dr. Harris had been ill recently and that this probably affected her state of hydration and ability to urinate.  Dr. Nichols also performed a substance abuse test at Dr. Harris' request but indicated that he had no hint of any such behavior.  The record does not indicate what the results were of this substance abuse test.  [Admin. Exh. #18].


21.
On January 26, 1996, Dr. Harris also obtained a statement from John R. Strawn, M.D. an Internist.  Dr. Strawn stated that Dr. Harris had informed him that she had been ill with an infected mouth and been unable to drink much fluids.  He also noted that Dr. Harris had a history of lung problems and asthma earlier in life and currently smoked a pack of cigarettes a day.  He indicated that he evaluated Dr. Harris and that she had significant lung disease probably emphysema and that she was unable to blow well into the machine.  He opined that this could have been more difficult ten days ago when she had a sore mouth.  He also indicated that she was only able to give a small amount of urine for his testing and opined that this was most likely associated with inadequate fluid intake.  Dr. Strawn indicated that the tests he was performing were not for drugs but were for other medical conditions that may have led to her recent problems.  Dr. Strawn also stated that his evaluation was incomplete and that he would send further information as it became available.  [Admin. Exh. #20].


22.
On January 29, 1996, Dr. Strawn forwarded to the drug testing facility a Spirometry Report of Dr. Harris.  [Admin. Exh. #21].


23.
The physician's statements and testing, including the Spirometry Report were reviewed by the Drug Testing facility and their Medical Review Officer, David Singleton, M.D.  Upon review of this information and upon discussions with Dr. Strawn, the Drug Testing facility and Dr. Singleton could find no reason to reverse the refusal to test decision.  [Admin. Exh. #22 and 23].


24.
On March 13, 1996, Ms. Jackson held a conference with Dr. Harris and her counsel to discuss the positive results of her drug and alcohol tests due to refusal to supply sufficient air and urine and her excessive absences.  Dr. Harris was informed that the medical information from Dr. Nichols and Dr. Strawn did not have any bearing on her attempts to perform a reasonable suspicion drug and alcohol test.  [Admin. Exh. #14].


Additionally, Dr. Harris' absences were discussed.  Ms. Jackson indicated that Dr. Harris had informed her that most of her absences during 1994-95 were due primarily to the illness of her mother.  However, Ms. Jackson found that of those 38.37 absences, Dr. Harris had reported 31.78 as personal illness.  Dr. Harris acknowledged that she often gave personal illness as the reason.  For the 1995-96 school year, Ms. Jackson reported that Dr. Harris had a total of 59 to 61 absences.  [T. 35].  Dr. Harris indicated that from February 5, 1996, through March 13, 1996, she had been absent because she was ill from having sat in a temporary building that was too cold.  [Admin. Exh. #14].


Upon completion of the meeting, Ms. Jackson recommended the termination of Dr. Harris' employment with Houston Independent School District.  [Admin. Exh. #14].


25.
By letter dated March 22, 1996, the Board of Education of the Houston Independent School District notified Dr. Harris that it intended to terminate her employment pursuant to Section 5(f) and 6(g) of her continuing teachers contract for "repeated and continuing neglect of duties," and "for good cause as determined by the Employer, good cause being the failure of the Teacher to meet the accepted standards of conduct for the profession as generally recognized and applied in similarly situated school districts throughout the State of Texas."  The specific reasons for the termination recommendation were the positive results of a drug and alcohol test administered to Dr. Harris on a reasonable suspicion basis and/or her unsatisfactory attendance record.  [Admin. Exh. #15].


26.
An evidentiary hearing was conducted before the undersigned on April 25 and 30, 1996.  Each party was provided with an opportunity to present witness testimony and to offer exhibits.  A certified court reporter transcribed the proceedings and prepared the record.


27.
Houston Independent School District elicited testimony from Frances Jackson, the Principal of the Community Services Program, David Singleton, M.D., the Medical Review Officer for the drug and alcohol testing facility, and Hagmon Simmons, the Substance Abuse Professional with the Employee Assistance Program.  Dr. Harris elicited testimony from Bennie Beal, III, the Director of Referral Development/Marketing at IntraCare Hospital and Joseph Jefferson, Ph.D., a Professor at Texas Southern University and a licensed chemical abuse counselor.  Dr. Harris did not testify.


28.
The testimony of Mr. Beal indicated that he suspected certain staff members at IntraCare Hospital had a personal vendetta against Dr. Harris.  However, Ms. Beal's testimony did not address the specific issues presented at this hearing concerning Dr. Harris' excessive absenteeism or the positive drug test due to failure to provide an adequate sample.  [T. 200-204].


29.
The testimony of Dr. Jefferson also did not address the specific issue presented at the hearing in this matter.  Dr. Jefferson indicated that Dr. Harris had told him that she had been ill with the flu in October of November, 1995, and had been ill right after Christmas.  However, Dr. Jefferson did not provide any material evidence that would explain Dr. Harris' excessive absences.


30.
From a review of the evidence presented, this Hearing Officer finds that Houston Independent School District established by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Harris violated Section 5(f) and 6(g) of her continuing contract for "repeated and continuing neglect of duties" and "for failing to meet accepted standards of conduct for the profession as generally recognized and applied in similarly situated school district in Texas," due to her unsatisfactory attendance record.  The evidence affirmatively established that Dr. Harris had been absent for 38.37 days during the 1994-95 school year and on many of those occasions had provided an inaccurate and false reason for her absences.  She indicated that 31 of these absences had been for personal illness when, in fact, she admitted that the majority of these absences were for her mother's illness.  Moreover, the evidence affirmatively established that Dr. Harris had been absent for 59 days during the 1995-96 school year, clearly an excessive number of days.  The reason for these absences, other than the seventeen absences prior to September 29, 1995, for smelling tar fumes and the absences from January 1 though 11, 1996, for being under dental care, were not identified.  There was some indication in the record that Dr. Harris was ill from February 5, 1996, through March 13, 1996, from being placed in a cold building, but the nature of her illness was not described.  Accordingly, I find no adequate explanation for the excessive number of absences that Dr. Harris incurred during the 1995-96 school year.


31.
The drug and alcohol tests performed on Dr. Harris did not comply with Houston Independent School District's Administrative Procedure 570.324 regarding "Reasonable Suspicion Testing for Controlled Substance."  [Admin. Exh. #24].  This Procedure requires employees to undergo controlled substance testing when the District has reasonable suspicion to believe that the employee has violated the policy for a Drug-Free Workplace.  The Procedure requires that the observation for determining reasonable suspicion must be made by a supervisor trained under Department of Transportation Regulation 49 CFR Section 382.503.  Ms. Jackson was the supervisor that made the determination that reasonable suspicion existed for testing and she sign the form indicating reasonable suspicion.  However, Ms. Jackson had not been trained under 49 CFR Section 382.503.  [T. 121].


32.
Ms. Jackson did request and obtain a collaborative observation from personnel from the Employment Assistant Program who had been trained under 49 CFR Section 382.503, as required by Houston Independent School District's Administrative Procedure 570.324.B.


33.
From a review of the evidence presented, Houston Independent School District established by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Harris had tested positive on her drug and alcohol tests due to her refusal to supply sufficient air and urine for test purposes.  Although Dr. Harris obtained letters from two physicians in an attempt to provide a medical explanation for her failure to supply sufficient air or urine, these letters did not supply sufficient information to confirm that Dr. Harris, at the time of testing, was unable for medical reasons to supply sufficient air or urine for testing.  Dr. Nichols' letter simply speculated as to reasons why Dr. Harris may not have been able to provide a urine sample on the day of the test.  There was no direct or concrete statement as to what medical condition Dr. Harris had that would have precluded her from providing a urine sample.  Dr. Strawn's letter of January 26, 1996, indicates what Dr. Harris had told him, that she had been ill with an infected mouth and had been unable to drink many fluids and that the drug testing specimen had been requested late in the afternoon.  He also indicated that on the day he saw her, she was only able to give a small amount of urine for his medical testing.  However, Dr. Strawn did not provide any independent analysis or medical diagnosis or explanation as to what had been Dr. Harris' medical condition and whether or not it would have affected her ability to drink liquids.  Moreover, Dr. Harris' dentist did not testify or provide a statement as to what Dr. Harris' dental and/or medical condition had been on the date of her drug and alcohol tests.  Accordingly, there was insufficient evidence of a medical explanation for Dr. Harris' inability to provide a urine sample for drug testing.


Concerning the breath test, Dr. Strawn indicated that Dr. Harris had significant lung disease probably emphysema and that she had been unable to blow well into his machine.  He opined that this could have been more difficult ten days previous during her drug and alcohol test when she had a sore mouth.  His Spirometry Report, according to David Singleton, M.D., the physician used by the Drug and Alcohol testing facility, as its Medical Review Officer, indicated a moderate obstruction but not to the extent that it would have prevented Dr. Harris from providing sufficient air for the drug test.  [T. 150, 159-160].  Dr. Singleton's testimony was not contradicted by any of Dr. Harris' witnesses.  Accordingly, I find that Houston Independent School District established by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Harris had tested positive in a drug and alcohol test due to her refusal to supply sufficient air and urine and due to her failure to provide a medical reason from her physicians for her inability to supply the samples.


34.
Because the drug and alcohol test performed on Dr. Harris did not comply with Houston Independent School District's Administrative Procedure 570.324 concerning "Reasonable Suspicion Testing for Controlled Substances," I find that Houston Independent School District did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Harris violated either Section 5(f) or Section 6(g) of her continuing contract concerning the positive results of her drug and alcohol test.  The failure to comply with Houston Independent School District Administrative Procedures concerning the "Reasonable  Suspicion Testing for Controlled Substances" negates the presumption that there existed "reasonable suspicion" for Dr. Harris' drug and alcohol testing as such, Dr. Harris' drug and alcohol testing was inappropriately conducted and therefore should be invalidated as a reason for termination.


35.
Based upon the totality of the evidence presented, I find that Houston Independent School District established by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Harris violated Section 5(f) and 6(g) of her continuing contract due to her excessive absences.  The excessive absences resulted in repeated and continuing neglect of duties and constituted good cause for termination, being the failure of Dr. Harris to meet the accepted standards of conduct for the profession as generally recognized and applied in similarly situated school districts throughout the State of Texas.


Conclusions of Law

1.
This Hearing Examiner has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Sections 21.251 and 21.255 of the Texas Education Code.


2.
The Houston Independent School District failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that its drug and alcohol testing of Dr. Harris complied with its Administrative Procedure concerning "Reasonable Suspicion Testing for Controlled Substances," and therefore failed to demonstrate that Dr. Harris violated Section 5(f) or 6(g) of her continuing contract concerning the positive results of her drug and alcohol test.


3.
The Houston Independent School District has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Harris had excessive absenteeism during the 1994-95 and 1995-96 school years and therefore violated Section 5(f) and 6(g) of her continuing contract.  Her excessive absenteeism constituted a repeated and continuing neglect of duties, and good cause for discharge, being the failure to meet the accepted standards of conduct for the profession is generally recognized and applied in similarly situated school districts in this state.  [See Section 21.154(5) and 21.156 of the Texas Education Code].


4.
If any conclusion of law is deemed to be a finding of fact or if any finding of facts is deemed to be a conclusion of law, it is hereby adopted as such.


Decision and Recommendation

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, this Hearing Examiner recommends that Houston Independent School District's proposal to terminate Dr. Ardeen Harris' continuing contract with the Houston Independent School District be upheld and that Dr. Harris' contract be terminated, effective immediately upon final Board of Education action.


SIGNED this _______ day of May, 1996.








________________________________








James W. Holtz








Impartial Hearing Examiner




